Effects of burn severity and time since fire on songbird communities in the northern boreal forest

by

Michelle D. Knaggs

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Conservation Biology

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Michelle D. Knaggs, 2018

Abstract

Wildfire shapes the boreal ecosystem in western Canada and thereby enhances and diminishes important breeding habitat for many songbird species. Two aspects of wildfire, burn severity and time since fire, fundamentally alter the forest structure that songbirds use. The objectives of this study were to test the effects of burn severity (control, unburned/ low, medium, and high) one and two years postfire and time since fire (1 to >50 years post-fire) on songbirds in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Specifically, I quantified changes in species richness, community composition, functional diversity, and species-specific responses in uplands and peatlands using data from 777 sampling stations using autonomous recording units (ARUs). Species richness and function diversity were inversely related to burn severity. Community composition converged between uplands and peatlands when burn severity was high. Both species richness and functional diversity were significantly lower one year post-fire compared to controls (>50 years post-fire). Species richness was higher than unburned controls between 3 and 50 years post-fire, while functional diversity showed no other significant changes with time since fire. There was no shift in community composition with increasing time since fire. Results suggest that burn severity, time since fire, and their interactions with vegetation type have a noticeable, but not extreme influence, on the songbird community suggesting moderate resistant and high resilience to fire disturbances. Such information may prove useful in understanding responses to songbirds under different climate change and fire scenarios and thereby inform local conservation and management actions.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Michelle Knaggs. Samuel Haché and Erin Bayne conceived the study design. Erin Bayne, Samuel Haché, and Scott Nielsen provided input and feedback on analysis and writing.

Acknowledgements

I'd like to express my appreciation to Erin Bayne and Scott Nielsen for the opportunity to be involved with this project. Thank you Erin for entertaining my wishes to do fieldwork in boreal forest that is slightly different than in northern Alberta. Thank you Sam Hache for envisioning the project, participating in the whole first season of fieldwork, and the mentoring throughout. Thank you to the significant funding provided by the Canadian Wildlife Service Northern Region landbird program. Thank you to the CREATE-EI program for providing funding as well as professional development opportunities. I was lucky to have great field partners: Rhiannon, Emily and Emony. Thank you Bayne and Nielsen lab folks, especially Natasha and Caitlin. I appreciate the advice and support of my family and non-school related friends. Thank you to the guy who hands out the free newspapers in front of the LRT station with the funny costumes and one-liners. Most of all, thank you Alex and Kittycoo.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
Chapter 1 - General Introduction	
Songbirds in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest	1
Northwestern boreal wildfire regime and ecology	1
Climate change	2
Resistance and resilience	3
Research objectives	
Chapter 2 - Resistance of songbird communities to wildfire in the northern boreal forest	5
Abstract	5
Introduction	6
Methods	10
Study Area	10
Sampling design and avian surveys	11
Statistical Analysis	13
Results	15
Discussion	16
Figures	21
Chapter 3 - High resilience of songbird communities to wildfire in the northern boreal forest	26
Abstract	26
Introduction	27
Methods	31
Study Area	31
Sampling design and avian surveys	32
Forest type and fire data	33
Statistical Analysis	34
Results	36
Discussion	37
Tables	43
Figures	44
Chapter 4: General Conclusion	48
Limitations	49
Implications	51
Literature Cited	54
Appendices	65

List of Tables

Table 1. Life history traits used in the functional diversity analysis and the number of species in each	
category (in parentheses). Traits are from the Avian Life History Information Database	
(http://www.on.ec.gc.ca/wildlife/wildspace/project.cfm)	3

List of Figures

Figure 1. Location of the study sites (black squares) in the study area between Fort Providence and	21
	21
Figure 2. Examples of low (A), moderate (B) and high (C) burn severity in peatland and mineral wetlands one year post-fire in the Northwest Territories, Canada	22
Figure 3. Predicted means for species richness (\pm 95 % confidence intervals) per forest type and burn severity.	1 23
Figure 4. Partial canonical correspondence analysis ordination of bird communities in uplands and peatlands of increasing burn severity. Presented are A) centroids of each treatment type (burn severity and forest types) joined by arrows indicating the direction of increasing burn severity for uplands (squares) and peatlands (circles); B) 67% confidence ellipses around centroids (not shown) of each	5
Figure 5. Predicted means of functional diversity (Q) among severity and forest type treatments Figure 6. Map of the study area, fire history, and location of the 69 study sites (roadside and off-road	
Figure 7. Mean species richness for uplands and peatlands with increasing number of years post-fire. Figure 8. Partial canonical correspondence analysis ordination of bird communities in uplands and peatlands with increasing time since fire. Presented are A) centroids of each treatment type; B) 67%	45
1 51	46 47

List of Appendices

Appendix 1. Generalized linear mixed model results testing for effect of burn severity and forest type on species richness with unstandardized beta coefficients (β), standard error (SE), and p values (p). The reference state in the model was peatland control
Appendix 2. Generalized linear mixed model results testing for effect of burn severity \times habitat
interaction on functional diversity. The reference state for this model was upland control
Appendix 3. Number of sampling stations for each burn severity and habitat categories
Appendix 4. Results of generalized linear mixed model testing for effects of time since fire, habitat type, and time since fire × habitat type on species richness. Reference categories are unburned, upland,
and unburned × upland interaction
Appendix 5. Results of linear mixed model testing for effects of time since fire, habitat type, and time since fire \times habitat type on functional diversity. Reference categories are unburned, upland, and
unburned × upland interaction
Appendix 6. Histogram of number of sampling stations in each combination of time since fire and
Habitat type70
Appendix 7. Species detected at least three times in the study area, life history traits, and a rank based
on the most common boreal species from Blancher (2003)71
Appendix 8. Summary of similar North American boreal forest studies
Appendix 9. Heatmap of species that were detected at least 5 times in the study area. Each column represents a species, labelled by American Ornithologists' Union (AOU) codes. Each row represents a burn severity category. Colors from blue (never present) to red (most frequently present) represent the relative frequency that each species was detected in each severity category. Species frequency data has been standardized
Appendix 10. Heatmap of species that were detected at least 5 times in the study area. Each column represents a species, labelled by American Ornithologists' Union (AOU) codes. Each row represents a time since fire category. Colors from blue (never present) to red (most frequently present) represent the relative frequency that each species was detected in each severity category. Species frequency data has been standardized

Chapter 1 - General Introduction

Songbirds in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest

The boreal biome in North America provides breeding grounds for several billion migratory songbirds each year (Blancher 2003, Rosenberg et al. 2016). While some generalist boreal species have recently increased in abundance (Rosenberg et al. 2016), other species are experiencing long-term population declines (Ballard et al. 2003). Overall, songbird abundance in the western boreal forest is in decline (Rosenberg et al. 2016). The Taiga boreal ecozone of the Northwest Territories (604,628 km², 6.2% of Canada's area) is relatively unaltered by human disturbances, including energy development, forestry, agriculture, and urbanization (Grondin and Gauthier 2014). This area therefore provides nesting habitat for migratory species that face conservation threats, such as habitat loss, in the more developed southern boreal, at migratory stop-over sites, or on wintering grounds (Kirk et al. 2011). As songbird monitoring of the boreal largely takes place in readily accessible and more populated southern areas, there are substantial gaps in our knowledge on distribution, abundance, and habitat associations for birds breeding in more northern regions of the boreal (Blancher 2003; Environment Canada 2013).

Northwestern boreal wildfire regime and ecology

The Canadian boreal forest is characterized by low productivity and low tree diversity, but still has substantial variability in forest structure because of regional differences in fire regimes, climate, human disturbance, and the proportion of wetlands. Overall, the northern boreal forest is cooler, slower growing, and less biologically diverse than southern boreal ecozones. Regional fire regimes can be characterized by typical fire intensity (the amount of energy released during fire, Keeley 2009), frequency, timing, size, and effects on soils (Weber and Flannigan 1997). Fires are often ignited by lightning and occur during periods of drought which are more typical in the Canadian western boreal region than in the east (Parisien et al. 2011). In the Taiga Pains ecozone within the Northwest Territories, the fire regime is characterized by large, frequent, and intense fires and has the second highest annual average area burned of all boreal ecozones of Canada (ESTR Secretariat 2013). Although the wildfire season shortens with increasing latitude, the length of daylight in summer increases, enabling the fast drying of fuels as well as increasing the duration of the burning period during the day. The proportion of deciduous trees decreases with increasing latitude, making northern forests more conifer-dominated and therefore flammable during summer months when lightning occurs. High burn intensity results in high burn severity. Burn severity measures the ecological responses to a fire including a reduction in structure due to loss of canopy, understory vegetation, and groundcover. Wildfire reduces the vegetation structure that birds use for foraging, nesting, and refuge. However, new structure also arises, including standing snags for cavity nesting species and perches for birds that forage and hunt in open spaces.

Climate change

Climate change is a major threat to songbirds in North America (Rosenberg et al. 2016). Weather and climate are the primary drivers of wildfire in the boreal (Brandt et al. 2013) and predicted climatic changes will result in increases in fire frequency, severity, and area burned (Kochtubajda et al. 2006; Grissom et al. 2000). Unlike southern boreal regions where human presence and intervention may limit the amount of wildfire, the northern and more undeveloped regions will be more likely to experience increases in wildfire with less human interference (Campos-Ruiz et al. 2018). This study took place in a region that is expected to experience more wildfire in the future due to climate change because of increased evapotranspiration (more fuel), more lightning (ignition sources), and a longer fire season (Parisien et al. 2011). This will have significant effects to the forest available to birds. Over the past 50 years there has been an increase of ~2° C in the western boreal with general circulation models (GCMs) predicting additional warming into the future (Schneider 2013; Price et al. 2013). Shifts in climate and the fire regime will also alter how forests regenerate (Schneider 2013). Some changes in the past 50 years have already been documented: Bonan et al. (1990) found that tree species in interior Alaska, USA could only grow with a maximum of 1° C of warming and were further inhibited by reduced soil moisture, while Hogg and Wein (2005) found that decreased precipitation post-fire resulted in slowed regeneration of white spruce and aspen in the Yukon, Canada.

Resistance and resilience

Ecological stability is the ability of an ecosystem or community to withstand change by resistance (the ability to withstand change), and/or resilience (the ability to return to return to the previous state after disturbance; McCann 2000). Resistance to wildfire is generally measured soon after fire occurs across a gradient of burn severities while resilience is measured over time after the disturbance has ceased (Lake 2013). Birds are good indicators of ecosystem resilience and resistance because they are easy to survey and have a diverse range of habitat requirements (Carignan and Villard 2002). To my knowledge there have been no studies on how wildfire affects songbirds in the northwestern boreal forest of Canada.

Research objectives

The objectives of this thesis were to assess the resistance and resilience of songbirds to wildfire across two forest types in an understudied region of the northwestern Canadian boreal forest. On the one hand, the songbird community in the northwestern boreal forest may be resistant and resilient to wildfire because species have co-evolved with frequent wildfire (Schmiegelow and Villard 2009). Alternatively, low species diversity may result in low resilience. Therefore, in Chapter 2 I tested for resistance by assessing changes in species richness, community composition, and functional diversity across a burn severity gradient in recent fires across two major forest types (upland forests versus peatlands). In chapter 3, I tested for resilience in the songbird community by quantifying differences in the same metrics of species richness, community composition, and functional diversity by time since fire and forest type. The implications of the resistance and resilience of songbirds to wildfire in the context of climate change are discussed in the thesis discussion (chapter 4).

Chapter 2 – Resistance of songbird communities to wildfire in the northern boreal forest

Abstract

Wildfire is the dominant natural disturbance in the boreal ecosystem of western Canada. The degree that fire alters forest structure is described as burn severity and the resistance of songbird communities to fire severity remains largely unknown. We tested for effects of burn severity (control, unburned/ low, moderate, and high) in uplands and peatlands on species richness, community composition, and functional diversity using avian point count data (n = 1156) from two large burns in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Species richness decreased between control and high burn severity categories in both forest types, and although there was no significant interaction of burn severity and forest type, the decrease in peatlands was more pronounced than in uplands. Functional diversity was lower in high severity burns than in controls in both uplands (-27%) and peatlands (-28%). Lastly, community composition became more similar between uplands and peatlands with increasing burn severity (5.4% variation explained by the interaction; $P \le 0.001$). Relatively small effect sizes of burn severity indicated moderate resistance of the bird community to wildfire, particularly in upland forest types. Results from this study provides a better understanding of how songbirds respond to this important natural disturbance in northern boreal regions and this information can be used to predict how they may respond to an expected increase in burn severity due to climate change.

Introduction

Ecological resistance is the ability of ecosystems to withstand environmental change (Lake 2013). Species richness and diversity are often used to measure resistance of communities to disturbance (Leupin et al. 2004; Hoover et al. 2014), but ignore the composition of the community which may prevent an accurate assessment of impacts. For example, species richness and diversity have been shown to be stable, while beta diversity and/or functional diversity change with increasing amounts of human disturbance (Schmiegelow et al. 1997; Imbeau et al. 1999) or climate change (Virkkala and Lehikoinen 2017). Thus, metrics that incorporate species identity or ecological functions are required to fully understand how resistant a community is to change. Functional diversity measures the redundancy of traits in a community and links species with habitats by measuring species' traits that are associated with particular forest types (Schleuter et al 2010). Functional diversity has therefore been proposed to be a more appropriate indicator of resilience than species richness or abundance (Woodward and Diament 1991; Gagic et al. 2015). Functional diversity is increasingly being used to characterize responses in bird communities to disturbance with decreases in functional diversity often observed (Devictor et al. 2008; Edwards et al. 2013; Cosset and Edwards 2017; Vollstädt et al. 2017).

The boreal forest of North America contains a significant portion of the world's remaining intact forests (Potapov et al. 2008) and includes the breeding ranges of half of all bird species in North America (Wells and Blancher 2011). Wildfire is the most important natural disturbance in this biome (Weber and Flannigan 1997) and variation in severity, frequency, and area burned creates spatio-temporal heterogeneity in forest structure and composition (Weber and Stocks 1998; Bourgeau-Chavez et al. 2000). In extreme fire years, large and intense crown

fires result in high severity burns where most trees are killed (de Groot et al. 2013). However, approximately 15% of disturbed areas remain unburnt in high severity burns (Eberhart and Woodard 1987) due to the presence of water, topographic variation, or changes in weather conditions during the fire (Rowe and Scotter 1973). Additionally, less severely burned areas where only some trees, understory vegetation, and groundcover are killed are also common in parts of high severity burns (Madoui et al. 2010).

Birds breeding in boreal regions may be resistant to the effects of wildfire given their adaptation to high frequency wildfire since the last ice age (Telfer 1993). Studies in North America have shown that aerial insectivores and cavity nesters tend to respond positively to burn severity, as more food and nesting locations become available (Hutto 1995, Latif et al. 2016). Species associated with early seral forest, including some ground nesters also respond positively to high severity fires (Nappi et al. 2004), while mature forest specialists generally respond negatively (Hutto and Patterson 2016). However, these studies were done in southern boreal regions with a different fire regime (Boulanger et al. 2014) and tree growth rates higher than those in northern regions (Hogg and Wein 2005). How the mosaic of post-fire stand conditions affects songbird communities at the northern edge of the boreal forest remains largely unknown. A more comprehensive understanding of the resistance of songbird communities to wildfire is needed to inform conservation and management strategies, particularly given the observed increases in warmer and drier conditions associated with rapid climate change (Kochtubajda et al 2006, Grissom et al. 2000, Héon et al 2014).

In the northwest boreal region of Canada, peatlands, defined as wetlands with a thick (> 40 cm) layer of organic matter (National Wetlands Working Group 1997), make up almost half

of the landbase (Ecosystem Classification Group 2009) and provide important songbird habitat (Calme et al. 2002). Peatlands have characteristics that may make them resistant to wildfire, such as a high water table (Kettridge et al. 2015) and groundwater connectivity (Hokanson et al. 2015). Wetter peatlands, such as fens (Flannigan et al. 2008) and peatland interiors, are thought to be particularly resistant to wildfire (Hokanson et al. 2015). However, peatlands contain a large fuel supply with a thick layer of organic matter that can be highly flammable under extremely dry conditions (Flannigan et al. 2008). Treed fens and bogs also contain volatile ericaceous shrubs (Rowe and Scotter 1973) and black spruce that retains its dead branches, adding to the availability of fuels and ability of fires to spread to tree crowns. Because bird assemblages in areas with higher disturbance frequency were found to be more resistant to disturbance than areas with less frequent disturbance (Latif et al. 2016; Drapeau et al. 2016), the songbird community in peatlands may be less resistant than in uplands where fire disturbance is traditionally more frequent. To my knowledge, there have been no similar boreal studies to test the effects of wildfire in peatlands.

The objectives of this study were to quantify the resistance of songbird communities to wildfire in the northwest boreal region of Canada by testing for effects of burn severity (unburned, low, moderate, and high) in uplands and peatlands on different community metrics (species richness, community composition, and functional diversity). Avian point count data were collected during the first two years following large wildfires in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Complete resistance would be indicated by no changes in species richness, functional diversity, or community composition with increasing burn severity. Because of the adaptation of songbirds to frequent wildfire, we predicted that the songbird community in this region should be

highly resistant to wildfire. Based on this hypothesis, we also predicted that the upland songbird community would be more resistant to wildfire than the peatland songbird community.

Methods

Study Area

The study took place within a $\sim 8,000 \text{ km}^2$ area between Fort Providence and Behchokò, in the Taiga Plains ecozone of the Northwest Territories, Canada (Figure 1). This area was in and around two large burns (750,000 ha and 110,000 ha) that occurred in June and July 2014 and comprised nearly one third of all the area burned in the Northwest Territories during a record fire year whereby 3,400,000 ha burned compared with an average of 570,000 ha burned annually (Northwest Territories Department of Environment and Natural Resources (ENR) 2015). The ecozone is comprised of approximately 50% upland, 40% wetland (mainly peatland), and 10% open water (Ecosystem Classification Group 2007). The climate was generally dry, receiving between 288 – 387 mm of yearly precipitation and the daily temperatures averaged yearly throughout the region were between -2.5 and -4.3°C from 1981 to 2010 (Government of Canada 2018). Despite limited precipitation, there are extensive wetlands as a result of large areas of poorly-drained soils. With the exception of some shallow, inorganic mineral ponds, wetlands are primarily peatlands consisting of treed fens and bogs dominated by black spruce (*Picea mariana*; Ecosystem Classification Group 2007). For our analyses, all wetlands will hereafter be referred to as peatlands. Upland forests are dominated by jack pine (Pinus banksiana) with some trembling aspen (Populus trembloides). The study area has limited human disturbance with one highway, a few secondary roads, and limited non-commercial logging in some upland stands.

Sampling design and avian surveys

A total of 1,156 avian point count surveys was conducted between May 25 - July 1 in 2015 and 2016 using passive automated recording units (ARUs; Wildlife Acoustic SM3 model in 2015 and SM4 model in 2016). Sampling stations (n = 405) were grouped into study sites of either 5×5 (2015; n = 16) or 4×4 (2016; n = 20) grids with stations spaced 500 m apart. We used a stratified sampling design, where sites were randomly selected from a set of candidate sites based on overall burn severity stratified to 3 levels (low, moderate or high; Figure 2) and unburned areas (controls). The resulting sampling design consisted of 77 low severity, 87 moderate severity, 116 high severity burns, and 124 control sampling stations (Appendix 3); 173 of these stations were sampled in both years. Controls had not experienced fire in the past 43 years. For logistical reasons, stations were located within 2.5 km of truck-accessible roads, but at least 300 m from the highway to minimize interference of vehicle noise on recordings and edge effects from the road.

Burn severity was derived from a continuous differenced Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) layer (cell size = 30 m; Whitman 2015). DNBR was calculated as changes in reflectivity of Landsat imagery taken before and after the fire (Key and Benson 2006). Ground validation was conducted using a modified composite burn index (CBI) protocol which uses measurements of the degree of burned organic matter (Whitman 2015). For each sampling station, severity was categorized as low, moderate, or high (Rose et al. 2016, Wilkerson et al. 2016) using the average dNBR in a 100-m buffer. Unburned (control) study sites were located between 1 and 15 km from burn perimeters to limit the possibility of counting birds outside the burn perimeter. In low severity burns, less than 25% of basal area of trees was burned (Miquelajauregui et al. 2016), most trees and some shrubs survived, and soil was mostly unburned (dNBR <279). Unburned areas within the fire perimeter were categorized as low severity. In moderate severity burns, some shrubs, downed woody material and soil was consumed, as well as between 25-50% of the basal area of trees (dNBR between 279 and 525). High severity burns resulted in most trees being killed with >75% of basal area consumed, most shrubs consumed, and exposure of mineral soil (dNBR >525). The Northwest Territories Forest Inventory layer (Department of Environment and Natural Resources, 2012) was used to determine the major forest type in 100-m buffers around each sampling station (upland, n = 273 and peatland, n = 131 for peatlands).

ARUs were deployed at each study site for three or four consecutive days. Two 3-minute recordings at dawn from two randomly selected days at each sampling station were interpreted by human observers to determine the number of individuals per species using the Bioacoustic Unit Acoustic Data Analysis Protocol (Lankau et al. 2015). To minimize variation in detectability among sampling stations, recordings were randomly assigned to four trained observers and only recordings where bird vocalizations were not obscured by wind or rain were used. A species was considered present if a male primary vocalization was heard at least once at one visit to a station. Multiple individuals of the same species were identified by differences in vocalization-related directionality, amplitude, and song type. All identifiable bird vocalizations were recorded, but only passerine, grouse, and woodpecker species that breed during the survey period, defend relatively small territories, and are not gregarious were included in the analysis (see Appendix 1 for species list). For each sampling station, maximum count of individuals per species over the two recordings was used for analyses as it was preferred over mean average abundance by Toms et al. (2006).

Statistical Analysis

Species Richness

Species richness was used to measure changes in number of species per sampling station as opposed to other diversity metrics such as Shannon and Simpson indices because results were similar (see Appendix 7). A generalized linear mixed model with Poisson distribution (GLMMs) using the R (R Core Team 2016) package "lme4" (Bates et al. 2015) was used to test for a burn severity × forest type interaction. Year and study site were combined (n = 35) and included as a random effect to account for non-independence of sampling units. Goodness of fit between an additive model with severity and forest type as fixed effects, and a model with a severity × forest type interaction as fixed effects were tested using likelihood ratio tests using "lmtest" (Zeileis and Hothorn 2002).

Community composition

Changes to community composition were tested using partial Canonical Correspondence Analysis (pCCA; R package "vegan", Oksanen et al. 2016). CCA determines the amount of variation in the species abundance data that is explained by environmental variables (Borcard et al. 1992). The pCCA distributes sampling stations in the most parsimonious multivariate space to visually depict shifts in community composition. A permutation test with 999 permutations was used to determine the significance of the variation explained by the severity × forest type interaction after controlling for nuisance conditional variables (year sampled and study site). To partition the amount of variation that was explained by severity alone, forest type alone, and their interaction, we built models with: 1) severity as the main effect and forest type as an additional conditional variable; and 2) forest type as the main effect with severity as an additional conditional variable (*as per* Borcard 1992). A test for homogeneity of multivariate dispersion, or the amount of variability of species composition among treatment types, was used to measure beta diversity (Anderson 2006) using the R package "vegan". Although the effects of the nuisance variables could not be partitioned, dispersion provides information about species turnover that could otherwise not be calculated. Bray-Curtis dissimilarity was used for all community composition analyses because it is suitable for analyzing count data with a high number of zeros (Clarke 1993). Results from the pCCA were presented as an ordination with 67% confidence ellipses to show where the majority of the stations of each treatment type were located in two-dimensional space. For both community composition and functional diversity, species detected at fewer than 3 sampling stations were not included (after Kardynal 2015; Murray et al. 2017).

Functional Diversity

Two measures of functional diversity, functional richness and divergence, were quantified using Rao's quadratic entropy (hereafter "Rao's Q"; Clark et al. 2012) in the R package "FD" (Laliberté et al. 2014). We used life history traits that describe species' foraging and migration strategies, as well as substrates used for foraging, breeding and nesting from the Avian Life History Information Database

(http://www.on.ec.gc.ca/wildlife/wildspace/project.cfm; Table 1; Appendix 7). Some of these traits can be directly linked to ecosystem functioning, such as feeding behavior, as these describe how species contribute to insect control or seed dispersal and have been identified as functionally important by Azeria et al. (2011), Murray et al. (2017), and Newbold et al. (2012). All traits were categorical and transformed to continuous values by calculating the Gower distance (Schleuter et

al. 2010). Differences among burn severities, forest types, and their interactions for functional diversity were determined by using a GLMM with a Gaussian distribution in the R package "nlme" (Pinheiro et al. 2016) and the same response variables and random effects as those specified for the species richness analysis.

Results

Forty-five species were included in the analyses. Of these, six were only present in burns (Black-backed Woodpecker, Mountain Bluebird, Savannah Sparrow, White-crowned Sparrow, Yellow-bellied Sapsucker, and Yellow Warbler; see Appendix 7 for scientific names) and three were only in controls (Boreal Chickadee, Northern Waterthrush, and Ovenbird). Seven species were found in low and moderate, but not high severity burns (Blue-headed Vireo, Common Yellowthroat, Ruby-crowned Kinglet, Ruffed Grouse, Savannah Sparrow, Yellow-bellied Flycatcher, Yellow Warbler). No species were found exclusively in high severity burns.

High severity burns had significantly lower species richness than controls ($\beta = -0.19$, SE = 0.09, p = 0.025; Appendix 1). Richness was also lower in uplands than peatlands ($\beta = -0.23$, SE = 0.04, p < 0.001; Appendix 1). There was no significant interaction effect of burn severity and forest type (df = 3, $\chi^2 = 4.47$, p = 0.214; Figure 3); both peatlands and uplands showed similar changes in species richness with increasing severity.

The fire severity × forest type interaction explained 5.4% of variation in community composition, while the conditional variables explained an additional 6.8% (F = 5.80, P \leq 0.001; Figure 4). Forest type, when the only constrained variable, explained 1.9% of variation (F = 14.12, P \leq 0.001) and explained more of the variation than burn severity (1.5% of variation, F =

4.86, P \leq 0.001). The pCCA ordination showed that species in upland and peatland stations became more similar with increasing burn severity. The multivariate dispersion and subsequent permutation tests showed no significant differences among treatment types (F = 0.93, *p* = 0.472).

There was no significant forest type or burn severity × forest type interaction effect (df = 3, χ^2 = 0.20, p = 0.978). Uplands and peatlands had very similar predicted functional diversity in each burn severity category (β = 0.01, SE = 0.02, p = 0.523). Functional diversity decreased with increasing burn severity (Figure 5). Low severity (β = -0.09, SE = 0.02, p < 0.001), moderate severity (β = -0.14, SE = 0.02, p < 0.001), and high severity (β = -0.17, SE = 0.01, p < 0.001) all had lower functional diversity than controls (Appendix 2).

Discussion

We hypothesized that because species have adapted to frequent wildfire the songbird community would show high resistance regardless of burn severity, particularly in upland forest type. Overall, our effect sizes were small. However, the songbird community did change in higher severity burns, which comprised a substantial proportion (40%) of the burned area in our study area (Whitman et al. 2018). Burn severity did not have a stronger effect on songbird communities in peatlands compared to uplands, suggesting that both communities have similar resistance. Overall, we argue that the songbird community in our study area showed an intermediate level of resistance.

Other studies have investigated how wildfire affects songbird communities in southern boreal forests in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Quebec, and Minnesota (e.g. Hobson and Schieck 1999; Imbeau et al. 1999; Morissette 2002; Haney et al. 2008; Van Wilgenburg and Hobson 2008; Azeria et al. 2011; Appendix 8). Burn severity has been found to be important to bird communities in other ecological regions (studies listed in Hutto and Patterson 2016), such as the western United States and Australia, and for woodpecker species specifically in the Canadian boreal forest (Koivula and Schmiegelow 2007). However, inferences are limited to local fire regimes and ecological region (Latif et al 2016). This is, to our knowledge, the first study in the northwestern boreal region and as a result may be particularly important given the relatively large area of the Taiga Plains ecozone in which the study took place (604,628 km²; ESTR Secretariat 2013).

The inverse relationship between functional diversity and burn severity is consistent with studies that have found decreases in functional diversity in amphibian and plant communities with increasing disturbance (Ernst et al. 2006; Collins 2017). In our study, functional diversity decreased to a greater extent than species richness because species found in high severity burns were often closely related phylogenetically or shared similar life history traits. The five most common species in high severity burns (American robin, Chipping sparrow, Dark-eyed junco, Hermit thrush, and White-throated sparrow) belong to two families (Turdidae and Emberizidae), are short distance migrants, foraging omnivores (with the exception of Hermit thrush), and nest primarily on the ground (with the exception of American robin, which although nests primarily in trees, will nest on the ground or in snags; Vanderhoff et al. (2016); Appendix 7). These few generalist species dominated high severity burns regardless of forest type, possibly because of constraints on foraging behavior and nesting sites. These species are largely responsible for the species richness at the high severity burn stations and likely contribute substantially to the resistance observed in this bird community.

Some generalist species with declining population trends may benefit from increasing fire, such as White-throated sparrows and White-crowned sparrows that had their highest abundances in high severity burns (Appendix 9). However, increasing wildfire may have negative effects on other species that are undergoing long-term population declines. For example, the Common yellowthroat, a peatland-associated species that was not found in high severity burns, has seen population declines in the boreal taiga plains region of the western boreal (Blancher 2003). Swainson's thrush is one of the most abundant boreal birds, but is also declining in Canada and although common in our study area decreased with increasing burn severity. Seven species (7/42) consisting of resident, short-distance, and neotropical migrant species were found in low and moderate burn severity patches but not in high severity patches. These species likely prefer lower severity burns because they contain more complex vegetation structure than high severity, and because unburned mature forest and recent higher severity burns are often available for nesting and foraging in the vicinity (Stuart-Smith et al. 2002; Azeria et al. 2011).

Wildfire in the boreal forest is increasing in frequency, severity, and area due to climate change (Grissom et al. 2000; Kochtubajda et al. 2006; Balshi et al. 2009; Héon et al. 2014). Wildfire in peatlands in particular is expected to increase as previously wet organic layers dry out and become flammable with a warmer and drier climate (Turetsky et al. 2004, Flannigan et al. 2008) and increased fire size (Turetsky et al. 2004). The songbird community in peatlands may therefore be more susceptible to future climate change. In our study area, peatlands had higher species richness than uplands, burn with less intensity than uplands (Whitman et al. 2018), and therefore provide important habitat within burns. We did not find any differences

18

between upland and peatland communities' responses to burn severity. However, of particular interest was the fact that upland and peatland bird communities became very similar in high severity burns, suggesting a specific group of species are best adapted to these conditions. Understanding changes to the songbird community in peatlands provides a more comprehensive understanding of how boreal songbird communities are affected by wildfire because previous studies focused on harvestable, upland forest types (Hobson and Schieck 1999; Schieck and Hobson 2000; Morissette et al. 2002; Schieck and Song 2006; Van Wilgenburg and Hobson 2008). We found that that unburned, low, and moderate burn severity patches supported higher species richness and functional diversity and provided important songbird forest types for species that are not found in high severity burns. Increasing burn severity will potentially result in smaller proportions of unburned, low, and moderate burn severity patches within the overall burned landscape.

Multiple metrics were used to quantify changes to the songbird community. Measuring changes in species richness and community composition are simple and feasible methods of detecting changes in communities and comparing results among studies even though breeding success cannot be inferred. As in other studies that found species composition to vary in different upland forest types (Morissette et al. 2002), we found differences in composition and species richness between upland and peatland forests. Azeria et al. (2011) used functional traits to detect species changes with increasing burn severity, similarly to how functional diversity and community composition detected changes in this study.

Including burn severity and habitat-specific data helps to better understand songbirds' responses to wildfire. For example, while both our study and Morissette et al. (2002) found

Dark-eyed junco and American robin in high abundance in burned forests, we found Dark-eyed junco abundance to be specifically highest in moderately burned areas, while American robin abundance was highest in high severity burns. Future studies could include both burn severity and time since fire, as Hutto and Patterson (2016) found the combination of fire variables influenced species' responses in Montana. Although the songbird community is currently somewhat resistant to wildfire in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest, incorporating projected changes to forests and wildfire due to climate change will be necessary to understand how resistance may change in the future.

Figures



Figure 1. Location of the study sites (black squares) in the study area between Fort Providence and Behchokò, Northwest Territories.



Figure 2. Examples of low (A), moderate (B) and high (C) burn severity in peatland and mineral wetlands one year post-fire in the Northwest Territories, Canada.



Figure 3. Predicted means for species richness (\pm 95 % confidence intervals) per forest type and burn severity adjusted for the random effect (site and year).



Figure 4. Partial canonical correspondence analysis ordination of bird communities in uplands and peatlands of increasing burn severity. Presented are A) centroids of each treatment type (burn severity and forest types) joined by arrows indicating the direction of increasing burn severity for uplands (squares) and peatlands (circles); B) 67% confidence ellipses around centroids (not shown) of each treatment type.



Figure 5. Predicted means of functional diversity (Q) among severity and forest type treatments adjusted for the random effect (site and year). Error bars are 95% confidence intervals.

Chapter 3 – High resilience of songbird communities to wildfire in the northern boreal forest

Abstract

The resilience of animal communities and ecosystems describes their ability and the amount of time required to return to a pre-disturbance state. Songbird communities in southern boreal regions have shown high resilience to wildfire, but these ecosystems experience more rapid forest regeneration and higher songbird diversity than northern boreal regions where their resilience remains largely unknown. We tested for resilience of songbird community to wildfire in the northern boreal forest of the Northwest Territories, Canada. Specifically, we estimated songbird abundance in stands 1, 2, 3-10, 11-30, 31-50, and > 50 years post-fire and tested for effects of time since fire and forest type (uplands vs. peatlands) on species richness, community composition, and functional diversity to infer the resilience of this community. Species richness was highest between 3 and 50 years post-fire with a non-significant peak between 11-30 years (8.3), and lowest one year post-fire (5.2). There was higher species richness in peatlands compared to uplands, but there was no significant time since fire \times forest type interaction. Community composition did not change with time since fire, forest, or their interaction, and functional diversity only significantly decreased one year post-fire. Because of the lack of change in composition and brief decrease in functional diversity as a function of number of years post-disturbance and forest type, we concluded that songbird communities are highly resilient to fire in northwest boreal regions. A better understanding of the resilience of northern breeding

songbirds can be integrated into simulations to generate predictions about potential changes in abundance and distribution of songbirds in response to different climatic change scenarios.

Introduction

The resilience of animal populations, communities, and ecosystems describes their ability to return to the pre-disturbance state following disturbance (Holling 1973, Walker and Salt 2006). The resilience of songbird communities to natural disturbance has been inferred by testing for statistically significant changes with increasing time since disturbance (Schmiegelow et al. 1997; Fischer et al. 2007; Jacquet and Prodon 2009). There has long been a need to understand resilience of songbirds in the southern boreal forest to harvesting practices (Schmiegelow and Villard 2009) and many studies have addressed the concept of resilience by comparing recovery over time after harvesting and wildfire, as summarized by Schieck and Song (2006). For boreal regions that do not experience harvesting, understanding the level of resilience of songbird communities is necessary to provide ecological baselines to anticipate effects of climate change (Millar et al. 2007), such as increases in area burned by wildfire in the northern Canadian boreal forest (Kochtubajda et al. 2006).

Wildfire is the primary natural disturbance in the boreal forest of Canada (Tymstra et al. 2007). The large fires that start in the northern boreal forest are typically ignited by lightning and occur during periods of drought. Such fires are more typical in the western Canadian boreal region than in the east (Parisien et al. 2011). The boreal forest also becomes more prone to fire with increasing latitude as a result of longer daylight hours in summer and greater proportion of conifer trees (Miquelajauregui et al. 2016). The northwestern fire regime is characterized by large, intense, crown fires (de Groot et al 2013), which creates spatio-temporal variation in stand

age and composition resulting in diverse habitats for wildlife (Rowe et al 1973, Weber and Stocks 1998). The spread and shape of fire is highly variable and influenced by many factors such as the presence of fire breaks (e.g. water bodies or lack of vegetation), variation in moisture content of vegetation and surface substrate, changes in weather (Rowe and Scotter 1973), vegetation type, and topography (Whitman et al. 2018).

According to the "diversity-stability" hypothesis, diversity is frequently correlated with stability of an ecosystem, which in dynamic ecosystems is determined by resilience and/or resistance (McCann 2000). Two drivers of diversity in boreal forests are forest succession and latitude. Higher species diversity in southern boreal regions compared to northern regions can be partially attributed to the wide range of habitats created by succession following disturbance (Schieck and Hobson 2000; Swanson et al. 2011). Following wildfire in southern boreal regions, multiple stages of succession create a variety of habitats that a large diversity of songbird species have adapted to (Tefler 1993, Schieck and Song 2006). In northern boreal regions, stand succession is simplified because of low tree diversity (Hogg and Wein 2005), where dominant tree and shrub species present before wildfire often regenerate post-fire without intermediate successional stages. In peatlands, most understory plants can regenerate from surviving underground roots and rhizomes even when surface vegetation is consumed (Johnstone and Kasischke 2005), while black spruce stands quickly regrow from aerial seedbanks that survive fire and dominate where the organic layer has burned (Price et al. 2013). In upland stands, trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) can sprout from surviving suckers and quickly recolonize, while jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) uses the same regeneration strategy as black spruce (Price et al. 2013).
In addition to simpler forest regeneration patterns in this region of the northern boreal forest, productivity (Gauthier et al. 2015), percent of deciduous trees, tree height, and canopy cover decrease with increasing latitude (Rowe and Scotter 1973). The northern boreal region experiences short and cool growing seasons resulting in slow regeneration rates compared to southern boreal region (Hogg and Wein 2005). Schieck and Song (2006) found that boreal songbird communities in Alberta, Canada take longer (15 years) to reach intermediate successional stages than in a more southern hemiboreal region in Minnesota, U.S.A (3 years; Schulte and Niemi 1998), possibly due to a latitudinal effect on regeneration rate. The combination of slow and simplified regeneration may lead to low species diversity and therefore low resilience in wildlife communities further north.

The boreal forest provides important breeding habitats for many migratory and resident landbird species; 186 species and between one and three billion individuals nest here each year (Blancher 2003). Bird communities in regions with frequent disturbances have been found to be less sensitive to disturbance than those in regions with less frequent disturbance (Latif et al. 2016; Drapeau et al. 2016). Species that use the boreal forest, including songbirds, are thought to be resilient to large-scale and frequent disturbances (hereafter "disturbance-resilience hypothesis"; Schmiegelow et al. 1997; Weber and Stocks 1998; Schmiegelow and Villard 2009; Drapeau et al. 2016). Songbird species that prefer recently burned stands include cavity and some ground nesters (Imbeau et al. 1999, Nappi and Drapeau 2011) as well as some generalist species. In the southwestern boreal forest in the Boreal Plains ecozone, species associated with shrubby habitats in early seral stages become prevalent 11-30 years post fire (review by Schieck and Song 2006). Species associated with mature stands occurred in small patches of residual trees in recent burns but were generally more common >50 years post-disturbance. Older burns (>75 years post-fire) were structurally more diverse than younger burns and supported the greatest species richness and abundance (Schieck and Song 2006). It could be expected that songbirds would show high resilience to fire in the northern boreal forest where large-scale disturbances are common.

In the northwest boreal region of Canada, peatlands make up almost half of the landbase and are typically defined as wetlands with a thick (> 40 cm) layer of organic matter (National Wetlands Working Group 1997). Peatlands experience reduced burn severity (Whitman et al. 2018) and frequency compared to uplands due to a higher water table (Kettridge 2015), wet surface substrate (Flannigan et al. 2008), greater groundwater connectivity, and distance from uplands (Hokanson 2015). Peatlands are often composed of a large fuel load consisting of a thick layer of organic matter, black spruce that retains dead branches, and volatile ericaceous shrubs that become highly flammable when dry, such as when experiencing drought (Rowe and Scotter 1973; Flannigan et al. 2008; Kasischke et al. 2008). Previous studies have focused on testing effects of time since fire on songbird communities in upland forests (Hobson and Schieck 1999, Van Wilgenburg and Hobson 2008, Morissette et al. 2002, and Schieck and Hobson 2000, and Schieck and Song 2006), but, to our knowledge, no studies have tested for effects of time since fire in peatlands. Because peatlands burn less than uplands, songbird communities in peatlands may be less resilient to wildfire than communities in upland habitats.

The fire return interval is between 50 - 75 years in the northwestern boreal region and frequent enough that forest stands often to not reach maturity (Bergeron et al. 2002). However, wildfire frequency and area burned are anticipated to increase with climate change (Grissom et

al. 2000; Kochtubajda et al. 2006; Héon et al. 2014) and northern regions are expected to experience the greatest increases (Bonan et al. 1990). Peatlands are particularly vulnerable as changes in hydrology due to climatic variations that will ultimately increase rates of wildfire (Zoltai et al. 1998). Understanding the resilience of songbird communities to wildfire in both uplands and peatlands is necessary to inform conservation strategies (Thompson et al. 2009).

In this study, we quantified the resilience of songbirds to wildfire in uplands and peatlands in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest. We conducted avian point count surveys to quantify resilience by estimating the time required (1, 2, 3-10, 11-30, and 31-50 years) for species richness, community composition, and functional diversity to return to pre-fire conditions (> 50 years). Based on the diversity-stability hypothesis, we predicted resilience to be lower in northern boreal regions than in southern regions. Alternatively, based on the disturbance-frequency hypothesis, we predicted that peatlands will show lower resilience than uplands because of less frequent fire in that habitat.

Methods

Study Area

The study took place within a ~25,000 km² area between Fort Simpson, Fort Providence, and Behchokò in the Northwest Territories, Canada (Figure 6). The study area was in the Taiga Plains High Boreal and Mid Boreal ecoregions, which are comprised of approximately 50% uplands, 40% peatlands, and 10% open water (Ecosystem Classification Group 2007). Uplands are dominated by jack pine while peatlands are primarily treed fens and bogs dominated by black spruce, as well as inorganic mineral ponds (Ecosystem Classification Group 2007). The region received between 288 – 387 mm of yearly precipitation and the average daily temperature was between –2.5 and –4.3°C between 1981 – 2010 (Government of Canada 2018). The average temperature has increased by 2°C between 1950 and 2007 in this area (ESTR Secretariat 2013). There are limited roads and industrial activity in the area and no commercial forestry. Most of the study area has experienced wildfire at least once in the past 50 years. Particularly large fires in the study area occurred in 1994, 1995, and 2014 (Fig. 6).

Sampling design and avian surveys

We conducted avian point counts at 777 sampling stations between June 1 and 30, 2015 and 2016. Time since fire was classified into 1 year (n = 291 sampling stations), 2 (n = 208), 3– 10 (n = 70), 11–30 (n = 86), 31–50 years (n = 214), and >50 years since fire (hereafter "controls"; n = 127; see also Smith et al. 1993). The sampling design was comprised of near-road and off-road sampling locations. Off-road surveys were conducted on and around the Horn Plateau in 2016. These sampling stations were grouped into sites with four sampling stations spaced 600 m apart in a 2×2 grid with the fifth station located at the centroid. Sites were systematically spaced 20 km apart. This sampling design resulted in the following sample size: 1 year (n = 4), 11–30 (n = 86), 31–50 years (n = 50), and controls (n = 56); total of 196 sampling stations). The roadside surveys, which were used in chapter 2, consisted of sites of either 16 stations (4 \times 4 grid and sampling stations spaced 500 m apart; 2016) or 25 stations (5 \times 5 grid and sampling stations spaced 500 m apart; 2015) using a stratified random sampling design (1 year [n = 287], 2 years [n = 208], 3–10 years [n = 70], 11–30 years [n = 0], 31–50 years [n = 10]164], and controls [n = 71]; Appendix 6). Some sampling stations were sampled as both year one and year two over the two years of sampling.

At each sampling station, two 3-minute point counts (n = 1,554) were conducted using recordings made by automated recording units (Wildlife Acoustic SM3 model in 2015 and SM4 model in 2016). Point counts were conducted at dawn on randomly selected dates from within 4 days of each other (roadside surveys) and from within the sampling period (off-road surveys). Bird species and abundances were manually interpreted using the Bioacoustic Unit Acoustic Data Analysis Protocol (Lankau et al. 2015). To minimize variation in detectability among sampling stations, recordings were randomly assigned to six trained observers and only recordings where bird vocalizations were not obscured by wind or rain were interpreted. A species was considered present if a male primary vocalization was heard at least once at a station. Multiple individuals of the same species were identified by differences in vocalizationrelated directionality, amplitude, song-type and/or quality. All identifiable bird vocalizations were recorded, but only non-gregarious passerines, grouse, and woodpeckers breeding during the survey period and defending relatively small territories were included in the analysis (see Appendix 7 for species list). For each sampling station, maximum count of individuals per species over the two recordings was used for analyses following recommendations from Toms et al. (2006).

Forest type and fire data

Remote sensing information of area burned in the study area from 1966 to 2016 was extracted from the Forest Management – Fire History GIS layer (Government of the Northwest Territories Center for Geomatics 2017). Information on fires before 1966 was not available. Time since fire was categorized into age classes similar to previous studies (Hobson and Schieck 1999; Schieck and Hobson 2000; Schieck and Song 2006; Haney et al. 2008). The Northwest Territories Forest Inventory layer (Department of Environment and Natural Resources, 2012) and Edehzhie Vegetation Inventory (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2017) were used to determine the forest type (uplands or peatlands) for each sampling station. Information on dominant post-fire year category and forest type was summarized for a 100-m buffer around each sampling station to represent the effective detection radius of most boreal songbirds (e.g. Sólymos et al. 2013).

Statistical Analysis

Species Richness

Number of species per sampling station, i.e. species richness, was used to measure species diversity because results were similar to those from Shannon and Simpson indices and richness is a simpler metric. We created generalized linear mixed models using R (R Core Team 2016) packages "lme4" (Bates et al. 2015) to test for an effect of time since fire × forest type interaction. Year sampled (n = 2) and study site (n = 69) were included as random effects to account for the non-independence of sampling units.

Goodness of fit between an additive model with severity and forest type as fixed effects, and a model with a severity \times forest type interaction as fixed effects were tested using likelihood ratio tests using "lmtest" (Zeileis and Hothorn 2002).

Community composition

We tested for changes in community composition using partial Canonical Correspondence Analysis (pCCA; R package "vegan"; Oksanen et al. 2016). CCA determines the amount of variation in species abundance that is explained by environmental variables (Borcard et al. 1992). The pCCA distributes sampling stations in the most parsimonious multivariate space to visually depict shifts in species composition. A permutation test with 999 permutations was also conducted using the pCCA results to determine the amount of variation explained by time since fire and forest type after controlling for nuisance variables (year sampled and study site). To partition the amount of variation that was explained by time since fire alone, forest type alone, and their interaction, models with time since fire as the main effect and forest type as an additional conditional variable, and a model with forest type as the main effect with time since fire as an additional conditional variable were created (*as per* Borcard 1992). The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity statistic was used for the pCCA analysis because it is considered the most suitable for analyzing count data with a high number of zeros (Clarke 1993). Results from the pCCA were presented as an ordination with 67% confidence ellipses to show where the majority of the stations of each treatment type were located in two-dimensional ordination space.

Functional Diversity

Functional diversity measures the redundancy of traits in a community and has been proposed to be a better indicator of ecosystem functioning than other metrics like species richness or abundance (Woodward and Diament 1991). Functional richness and divergence are two measures of functional diversity that were quantified based on the abundance of species' traits and using Rao's quadratic entropy (hereafter "Rao's Q"; Clark et al. 2012) from the R package "FD" (Laliberté et al. 2014). We used life history traits that describe species' feeding behaviors, reproduction and nesting locations, and migration behaviors (Table 1). These traits describe some ecosystem functions such as insect control and seed dispersal or are considered ecologically important as key avian attributes (Azeria et al. 2011; Murray et al. 2017; Newbold and Butchart 2012). These categorical traits were transformed into a continuous distance matrix using the Gower distance for analysis (Schleuter et al. 2010). We tested for effects of time since fire and forest types on functional diversity (Rao's Q) using a GLMM from the R package "nlme" (Pinheiro et al. 2016) and the same fixed and random effects as the species richness analysis. A *post-hoc* pairwise test with a Bonferroni correction using the R package "lsmeans" (Lenth 2016) was used to identify significant pairwise interactions. Species detected at fewer than 3 sampling stations were not included in all analyses (*as per* Kardynal 2015; Murray et al. 2017).

Results

Fifty species were included in the analyses (Appendix 7). The age classes between 3 - 50 years had significantly higher species richness than controls (between 11% and 35% higher; Appendix 4), with the highest mean value reported for 11 - 30 years period (Figure 7). There was no difference between controls and 2 years post-fire, but 1 year post-fire was significantly lower. Peatlands had higher mean species richness than uplands (peatland = 7.3, upland = 6.2; $\beta = 0.17$, SE = 0.03, p = <0.001; Figure 7), but there was no significant time since fire × forest type interaction (df = 5, $\chi^2 = 7.66$, p = 0.176).

The time since fire × forest type interaction explained a small amount of variation (2%, pCCA, F = 2.62, p < 0.001) in species composition, while study site explained considerably more variation (24%). Although statistically significant, the CCA showed no distinct shift in species composition with increasing number of years post-fire (0.69%, F = 1.91, p < 0.001; Figure 8) as indicated by the overlap in 67% confidence ellipses around the centroids of each treatment type and low amount of variance explained. There was also a statistically significant difference in species composition between birds breeding in uplands versus peatlands, but the amount of

variation explained was low (0.72%, F = 10.03, p < 0.001). Overall, there was little change in the community due to either time since fire or forest type.

There was no significant change in functional diversity between forest types. Functional diversity was significantly lower one year post-fire than in controls (Appendix 5). There were no other age classes that were significantly different from the controls, although there was a slight, insignificant increase in functional diversity in the 11–30 years age class. The time since fire × forest type interaction was significant (df = 4, χ^2 = 15.60, *p* = 0.004). However, the pairwise comparison found that the only difference between the response to time since fire in uplands and peatlands was that functional diversity was significantly lower in year one compared to the 11 – 30 year age class in peatlands. There was no difference in uplands (Figure 9).

Discussion

This study tested the resilience of songbird communities to wildfire in uplands and peatlands of the northwestern boreal forest, a region with relatively little anthropogenic disturbance. This analysis was based on the assumption that wildfire, the major natural disturbance that shapes the boreal landscape (Weber and Flannigan 1997), would have important effects on songbird communities immediately post-fire and the time required for communities to return pre-fire conditions could be quantified. We did not detect a significant biological change in community composition, functional diversity only decreased significantly in the first year post-fire, and species richness peaked early in regenerating stands (11–30 years), suggesting high resilience to wildfire. Similarly, Imbeau et al. (1999) found no change in species richness with succession in black spruce stands in boreal forest in Quebec. Our results were consistent with the disturbance-resilience hypothesis, where high resilience of the songbird community may be

explained by the historical prevalence of wildfire on the landscape and subsequent adaptation by species found there. The diversity-stability hypothesis was not a good explanation of resilience. Unlike southwestern boreal forests where bird communities are diverse and change throughout succession (Schieck and Hobson 2000), species diversity in this study was low (49 species, 6.95 \pm 0.16 species per sampling station) and did not shift dramatically.

The prevalence of generalist species may help explain the lack of change in species richness, community composition, and functional diversity with increasing time since fire. Nearly half (46%, 23 species) of the species included in analyses are considered to be among the 25 most abundant species in the Canadian boreal forest (Blancher 2003). These common boreal species use a wide variety of forest types and at varying stages of regeneration; no species in our analyses was limited to just one time since fire class. Haney et al. (2008) found species richness and diversity to be highest between 19–30 years. Our findings are similar, with highest species richness and functional diversity in the 11–30 years-since-fire class (35% higher than controls). The community composition ordination showed that the 11–30 years-since-fire class was between the younger and older forest age classes, indicating that this age class is used by both early and late-successional species and/or generalists. A meta-analysis on the effects of forestry on birds at different latitudinal gradients found that changes in species richness and composition in response to logging were greater in tropical than in temperate forests (LaManna and Martin 2017). The authors hypothesized that these results could be explained by large-scale natural disturbance being more common in temperate regions, which in turn, would result in a larger proportion of habitat generalist species using both undisturbed and disturbed forests. Our results support this hypothesis for natural disturbances as well.

Species diversity may be relatively low because plant species and vegetation structure may not change enough to provide sufficiently different habitats for new species. This lack of change in structure is likely due to many factors driven by increasing latitude and relatively poor productivity, such as the lack of successional changes in stand structure, low tree height, and low tree diversity. The lack of change in functional diversity reported in our study further suggests that the habitat used by songbirds did not functionally change. We did not find resilience in this study to be lower than more southern studies, and therefore did not find support for the prediction that resilience would decrease with increasing latitude. In Alberta and Saskatchewan boreal studies summarized by Schieck and Song (2006), community changes were due to the addition of shrubby species occurred within 10 years post-fire and species that use old forests becoming abundant between 31 - 75 years post-fire. Instead of longer times to reach these stages as hypothesized, our study showed that these distinct shifts did not occur.

Salvage logging in southern boreal may increase the change in community composition after wildfire in southern forests. Schieck and Song (2006) found that communities in recent burns with and without salvage logging were different and did not converge until thirty years after fire, when dead standing trees had mostly fallen. For example, cavity nesters and species that eat beetles were abundant immediately post-fire and while were present for up to 30 years post-fire where snags were left intact, declined in stands where salvage logging occurred. While there were small amounts of incidental salvage logging in our study area, there were no largescale commercial operations. Presence of snags in our study area likely further contributed to the lack of change in community composition. Forest type had a greater effect on species richness and community composition than time since fire. Peatlands had the highest species richness but there was no significant time since fire \times forest type interaction. Similarly, Kirk et al. (2011) found that in southwestern boreal regions, the gradient from dry to wet forests was the strongest driver of species assemblages. This result is particularly important given that peatlands are expected to be disproportionately affected by wildfire in the future; climate change models predict a warmer climate and more frequent drought (Price et al. 2013) that may lead to more drying out of peatlands and subsequently more fires.

The limited change in community composition contrasts with other studies from more southern regions (e.g. Haney et al. 2008; Lowe et al. 2012). In these studies, shifts in community composition may have been due in part to higher abundances of woodpeckers in younger forest age classes after wildfire (summarized by Nappi et al. 2004) and mature forest specialists that were only found in old forests (e.g. Lowe et al. 2012). Only four woodpecker species were detected in our study, likely because surveys took place after the primary woodpecker breeding season. Lack of woodpeckers in the younger age classes may have contributed to the lack of change in community composition and lower species richness in younger age classes; our results may have differed if additional surveys for woodpeckers had been conducted in May to determine different patterns in community composition might emerge.

The temporal extent of the time since fire data were only available for the past 50 years. Forest stands in the region do not reach an old seral stage until between 101 - 131 years where tree growth has slowed (The Forestry Corp. 2010). However, fires typically re-occur before stands reach an old seral stage (Johnson et al. 2001), so our sampling design likely captured representative forest age classes. Study site, as a random effect, explained more variation than time since fire or forest type. Ideally sampling in different burn age classes would have been stratified over the entire study area to ensure that there was limited geographical correlation and to reduce the amount of variation explained by site, but the sampling design was implemented prior to developing this study.

Differences between our results and those from more southern studies highlight the regional differences in the responses of songbirds to natural disturbances. To our knowledge, this is the most northerly study of fire impacts of songbird communities conducted in the western boreal forest. This region has the highest frequency, intensity, and size of wildfires and seems to be an area particularly susceptible to climate change (Boulanger et al. 2014). Of particular concern are predicted shorter fire-return intervals, which have been found to prevent regeneration of black spruce (Brown and Johnstone 2012). A larger proportion of more recent burns may have negative effects on songbird communities by temporarily reducing species richness and functional diversity. This study also highlights the necessity to consider variation in forest type and fire regime when investigating the effects of wildfire on songbirds in boreal forest ecosystems. In this study we differentiated uplands from peatlands, which is important because peatlands had higher species richness, have not been surveyed in similar previous studies, and are expected to persist on the landscape longer than uplands with climate change (Stralberg et al. 2018). Data from this study should be combined with predictions from fire simulation tools and climate change models as in Stralberg et al. (2018), where prediction from species distribution models based on different climate scenarios could help land managers to

better understand potential effects of climate change on songbird breeding in northern boreal regions.

Tables

Table 1. Life history traits used in the functional diversity analysis and the number of species in each category (in parentheses). Traits are from the Avian Life History Information Database (http://www.on.ec.gc.ca/wildlife/wildspace/project.cfm).

Migration	Feeding Class	Breeding substrate	Foraging	Nesting substrate	Nesting Habitat
Short distance migrant (22)	Insectivore (28)	Ground (23)	Forager (20)	Ground (20)	Coniferous woodlands (10)
Neotropical migrant (21)	Omnivore (22)	Lower canopy / shrub (10)	Gleaner (20)	Coniferous tree (11)	Bogs (7)
Resident (6)		Upper canopy (7)	Sallier (5)	Deciduous tree	Mixed woodlands (7)
Nomadic (1)		Air (6)	Excavator (2)	Shrub (5)	Open woodlands (5)
		Bark (3)	Scaler (1)	Snag (5)	Deciduous woodlands (4)
		Freshwater (1)	Scavenger (1)	Grass (2)	Early successional (3)
			Other (1)	Other (2)	Other (14)

Figures



Figure 6. Map of the study area, fire history, and location of the 69 study sites (roadside and offroad sampling design) in the Northwest Territories, Canada.



Figure 7. Mean species richness for uplands and peatlands with increasing number of years postfire.



Figure 8. Partial canonical correspondence analysis ordination of bird communities in uplands and peatlands with increasing time since fire. Presented are A) centroids of each treatment type; B) 67% confidence ellipses of stations within each treatment type.



Figure 9. Functional diversity response to years since fire and forest type.

Chapter 4: General Conclusion

The heterogeneity created by wildfire is prevalent on the northwestern boreal landscape. It is therefore important to understand its effects on songbirds to gain understanding of its potential impacts to northern breeding grounds, particularly for species that have been found to be declining. The effects of wildfire were measured using burn severity and time since fire. The diversity of bird species in northern forests is relatively low; species richness at each sampling station in the study area was 6.9 ± 0.16 , which was more than in black spruce dominated forests in eastern Quebec (3.4 - 5 per point count station; Imbeau et al. 1999) but less than richness in the mixedwood forests of the southwestern boreal forest (16 - 18; Macdonald 2006). Species' responses to burn severity (Appendix 9) and time since fire (Appendix 10) varied. Declines of certain common species in response to fire, such as Swainson's thrush's negative response to increasing burn severity, suggests fire does influence birds in northern regions although community shifts are not particularly dramatic.

Results from this study demonstrate the importance of using multiple metrics to understand how communities are affected by disturbance. For example, species richness is a simple metric to evaluate differences between treatment types, but alone it failed to detect changes due to burn severity that were found with community composition and functional diversity. Using functional diversity and guilds as in Imbeau et al. (1999); Morissette et al. (2002); and Azeria et al. (2011) (Appendix 7) is a useful way to compare results among studies that have different species assemblages while still describing the types of species found. Although species assemblages differed somewhat among these study areas, results were similar for guilds: ground and shrub nesters and insectivores were most common post-fire and/or in high severity burns, which were all common guilds in this study area (Table 1) and dominant postfire. The community composition analysis in chapter 2 identified an important convergence of forest types with increasing burn severity that the other metrics were unable to detect. Community composition has also been used in similar studies (Hobson and Schieck 1999; Van Wilgenburg and Hobson 2008; Morissette et al. 2002, Hannon and Drapeau 2005) and makes it possible to compare compositional changes among studies in regions with different species. By using all of these metrics, it is possible to compare results from this study with at least certain analyses in most other boreal studies.

There are no studies to my knowledge where the songbird communities did not demonstrate at least some resistance or resilience to wildfire. However, drastic changes to the landscape with climate change may result in conditions where communities fundamentally and permanently shift, and a definitive threshold of resistance and resilience will be definable. It would be informative to test for resistance or resilience in areas where the fire regime has been fundamentally altered by human intervention and compare that to the northern boreal, where the fire regime is relatively natural.

Limitations

This study was designed to survey songbirds during their spring breeding season when most species vocalize as a way to defend territories and attract mates. However, resident species and woodpeckers that breed earlier in the year were likely not adequately surveyed. Woodpecker species were detected in the study area but at much lower rates than would be expected in recent burns, likely because sampling took place after their peak breeding season. Additionally, irruptive species such as red crossbills (Loxia curvirostra) have patchy abundances and were omitted because they are not adequately sampled using point count surveys (Imbeau et al. 1999). However, there is the potential to conduct more thorough bird surveys using the audio recordings collected. Each sampling station only had two three-minute recordings interpreted from an available 330 minutes of daily audio recordings for three to four consecutive days. Automated species recognizers could be used to identify species such as woodpeckers on the full set of audio recordings with technology that currently exists, increasing the likelihood of detecting individuals. Manual interpretation of audio recordings is currently the only feasible method for full community identification, but in the future automated recognizers will be capable of detecting all species on large volumes of audio recordings efficiently (Shonfield and Bayne 2017). Additionally, because species richness increases with sampling effort (Bayne et al. 2017) and only two 3-minute point counts were conducted at each sampling station, actual species richness was likely underestimated. However, two point counts at each sampling station, as in Imbeau et al. (1999); Morissette et al. (2002), were the maximum that could be completed due to time constraints in similar studies. Another limitation of the recording schedule was that all stations in each study sites were surveyed on the same days, and therefore the large effect of site in the analyses is likely due to both spatial and temporal autocorrelation.

The detection radius of surveys at each sampling station may have been influenced by differences in vegetation structure due to burn severity, time since fire, and forest type. For example, it is possible that bird vocalizations were heard over a larger distance in recent, high severity burns with little vegetation compared to unburned forests with thick vegetation. Although this was not corrected for, it is likely that any subsequent bias in the data made

conclusions more conservative, as more species would have been detected in areas with higher severity or in more recent burns.

Implications

Understanding the relationship between birds and wildfire across a variety of regions will aid habitat conservation planning in the form of fire management (Latif et al. 2016). Fire management that supports biodiversity, such as the framework in Kelly et al. (2014), requires an understanding of species responses to current fire regimes. In this study, I quantified the effects of fire on the songbird community in a relatively unaltered fire regime in the northern boreal. Conversely, throughout the more populated and intensively managed southern boreal forest, fire suppression and active management has changed the structure of forests and habitat available for birds. Whitaker et al. (2008) suggested that there is a threshold at which bird assemblages will be unable to be resistant to disturbance. This threshold would likely be indicated by a dramatic decrease in species richness and / or a complete turnover of species with disturbance. Ideally, this threshold would be quantifiable, but there are, to my knowledge, no such thresholds described in the literature. It is possible that in regions with frequent disturbance where communities have adapted to frequent change, thresholds may have not been crossed under present conditions. My results suggest that the threshold in the northwestern boreal forest has not been reached under present conditions, even in areas that had burned to a high severity. Additionally, understanding which traits respond negatively to disturbance may also inform about species that share those traits but were not found in high enough abundance to statistically model effectively (Mason et al 2013).

Climate and wildfire models predict that increasing temperature, changes in precipitation and subsequent increases in wildfire will cause shifts in tree species or prevent forest regeneration after disturbance altogether in the next 100 years over much of the southwestern boreal forest (Stralberg et al. 2018). The northern boreal forest will also experience drastic changes, with the annual mean minimum temperature expected to increase up to 8° C in winter (Price et al. 2013). Northern regions with little human presence may experience more wildfire than in the south where fire suppression and conversion of forests to agriculture, logging, and industrial development may slow the spread and scale of fires. Climate change in southern boreal may cause large-scale transitions from deciduous and mixed-wood forests to grasslands and from coniferous-dominated forests to deciduous-dominated forests over much of the region, as well changes to peatlands (Schneider 2013, Stralberg et al. 2018). Northern boreal forests may not experience the extent of conversion of forests to grasslands due to increasing temperatures. However, complete loss of forests due to rapid repeat burns have been documented in the northwestern boreal forest. Fires that reoccur in an area in a short timeframe may destroy the available seed bank and mature trees with seeds, preventing regeneration of trees (Brown and Johnstone 2012).

This study shows that the songbird community in the northwestern boreal forest, although not very diverse, was able to withstand substantial changes to forest structure caused by fire. Like Imbeau et al. (1999), I found that songbird species richness did not change substantially as forests recovered, and this is likely representative of forests with simple forest structure and regeneration. However, the forest conditions in this study may not be applicable in the future as forests shift in their fundamental community composition or fail to regenerate altogether after disturbance. Additionally, the effects of high intensity fires will likely be more widespread than currently, increasing the amount of area burned to a high severity on the landscape.

Data from this thesis will also help Environment and Climate Change Canada's (ECCC) in their mandate to 'conserve and protect migratory birds and their habitat from major threats' (ECCC 2018) by providing information about species distributions, habitat associations, and how they are affected by wildfire. Data that was collected for Chapter 3 in the western portion of the study area is also being used as baseline data for a proposed National Wildlife Area (Edéhzhíe). A next step in this research will be to incorporate climate and wildfire models with information from this study to predict how northern boreal bird communities may respond to future habitat and fire regime changes. Additionally, different types of peatlands will likely be affected by wildfire based on hydrology. For example, water table fluctuations during drought tend to be greater in bogs than fens (Zoltai et al. 1998), making bogs more susceptible to wildfire during drought. Future research could differentiate among peatland types to better understand potential changes to the songbird community in response to wildfire.

Literature Cited

- Anderson MJ (2006) Multivariate dispersion as a measure of beta diversity. Ecology Letters 9: 683–693.
- Azeria ET, Ibarzabal J, Hébert C, Boucher J, Imbeau L, Savard JP (2011) Differential response of bird functional traits to post- fire salvage logging in a boreal forest ecosystem. Acta Oecologica 37:220–229.
- Ballard G, Geupel GR, Nur N, Gardali T (2003) Long-Term Declines and Decadal Patterns in Population Trends of Songbirds in Western North America, 1979–1999. Condor 105, 737– 755.
- Balshi M, McGuire AD, Duffy P, Flannigan M, Walsh J, Melillo J (2009) Assessing the response of area burned to changing climate in western boreal North America using a Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS) approach. Global Change Biology (2009) 15, 578– 600.
- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1), 1-48.
- Bayne E, Knaggs M, Solymos P (2017) How to Most Effectively Use Autonomous Recording Units When Data are Processed by Human Listeners. Bioacoustic Unit, University of Alberta and Alberta Biodiversity Monitoring Institute 72pp.
- Bergeron Y, Leduc A, Harvey BD, Gauthier S (2002) Natural Fire Regime : A Guide for Sustainable Management of the Canadian Boreal Forest. Silva Fennica 36, 81–95.
- Blancher P (2003) Importance of Canada's Boreal Forest to Landbirds. The Canadian Boreal Initiative and the Boreal Songbird Initiative. 42 pp.
- Bonan GB, Shugart HH, Urban DL (1990) The sensitivity of some high-latitude boreal forests to climatic parameters. Climate Change 16:9–29. doi: 10.1007/bf00137344
- Borcard D, Legendre P, Drapeau P (1992) Partialling out the Spatial Component of Ecological Variation. Wiley 73, 1045–1055.
- Bourgeau-Chavez LL, Alexander ME, Stocks BJ, Kasischke ES (2000) Distribution of Forest Ecosystems and the Role of Fire in the North American Boreal Region. In 'Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest'. (Eds Kasischke ES, Stocks BJ) Springer, New York, NY. pp 111-131.

- Boulanger Y, Gauthier S, Burton PJ (2014) A refinement of models projecting future Canadian fire regimes using homogeneous fire regime zones. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 44, 365-376. doi: 10.1139/cjfr-2013-0372
- Brandt JP, Flannigan MD, Maynard DG, Thompson ID (2013) An introduction to Canada's boreal zone: ecosystem processes, health, sustainability, and environmental issues. Environmental Reviews 21, 207–226.
- Brown CD, Johnstone JF (2012) Once burned, twice shy : Repeat fires reduce seed availability and alter substrate constraints on Picea mariana regeneration. Forest Ecology and Management 266, 34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.11.006
- Calme S, Desrochers A, Savard JP (2002) Regional significance of peatlands for avifaunal diversity in southern Québec. Biological Conservation 107, 273–281.
- Campos-Ruiz R, Parisien M, Flannigan MD (2018) Temporal Patterns of Wildfire Activity in Areas of Contrasting Human Influence in the Canadian. Forests 9, 159. doi:10.3390/f9040159
- Carignan V, Villard M (2002) selecting indicator species to monitor ecological integrity: a review. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 78, 45–61.
- Clarke KR (1993) Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Australian Journal of Ecology 18, 117–143.
- Clark CM, Flynn DFB, Butterfield BJ, Reich PB (2012) Testing the Link between Functional Diversity and Ecosystem Functioning in a Minnesota Grassland Experiment.
- Collins SL (2017) Species reordering, not changes in richness, drives long-term dynamics in grassland communities. Ecology Letters. doi: 10.1111/ele.12864
- Cosset C, Edwards DP (2017) The effects of restoring logged tropical forests on avian phylogenetic and functional diversity. Ecological Society of America 27,1932–1945. doi: 10.1002/eap.1578
- de Groot WJ, Cantin AS, Flannigan MD, Soja AJ, Gowman LM, Newbery A (2013) A comparison of Canadian and Russian boreal forest fire regimes. Forest Ecology and Management 294, 23–34.
- Department of Environment and Natural Resources (ENR) (2012) Northwest Territories forest vegetation inventory standards with softcopy supplements. Yellowknife, NWT. pp 1-88
- Devictor V, Julliard R, Clavel J, Jiguet F, Lee A, Couvet D (2008) Functional biotic homogenization of bird communities in disturbed landscapes. Global Ecology and Biogeography 17, 252–261. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00364.x

- Drapeau P, Villard M, Leduc A, Hannon S (2016) Natural disturbance regimes as templates for the response of bird species assemblages to contemporary forest management. Diversity and Distributions 22, 385–399.
- Eberhart Kevin E WPM (1987) Distribution of residual vegetation associated with large fires in Alberta. The Canadian Journal of Forest Research 17, 1207-1212.
- Ecosystem Classification Group (2007 (rev. 2009)). Ecological Regions of the Northwest Territories – Taiga Plains. Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Government of the Northwest Territories, Yellowknife, NT, Canada. 173 pp. + folded insert map.
- Edwards FA, Edwards DP, Hamer KC, Davies RG (2013) Impacts of logging and conversion of rainforest to oil palm on the functional diversity of birds in Sundaland. The International Journal of Avian Science 155, 313–326.
- Environment Canada (2013) Bird Conservation Strategy for Bird Conservation Region 6: Boreal Taiga Plains. Canadian Wildlife Service, Environment Canada. Edmonton, Alberta. 288 pp.
- Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) (2017) Vegetation and landscape classification of Edéhzhíe candidate national wildlife area (Vector layer). Yellowknife, NWT.
- Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) (2018, April 1) Departmental Plan 2017 to 2018 report, Environment and Climate Change Canada, chapter 6. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/corporate/transparency/corporate-management-reporting/departmental-plans/2017-2018/planned-results.
- Ernst R, Linsenmair KE, Rödel MO (2006) Diversity erosion beyond the species level: Dramatic loss of functional diversity after selective logging in two tropical amphibian communities. Biological Conservation 133, 143–155.
- ESTR Secretariat (2013) Taiga Plains Ecozone + evidence for key findings summary. Canadian Biodiversity: Ecosystem Status and Trends 2010, Evidence for Key Findings Summary Report No. 13. Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers. Ottawa, ON. vii + 109 pp.
- Fischer J, Lindenmayer DB, Blomberg SP, Montague-Drake R, Felton A, Stein JA (2007) Functional Richness and Relative Resilience of Bird Communities in Regions with Different Land Use Intensities. Ecosystems 10, 964–974. doi: 10.1007/s10021-007-9071-6
- Flannigan M, Stocks BJ, Turetsky M, Wotton M (2008) Impacts of climate change on fire activity and fire management in the circumboreal forest. Global Change Biology 14:1-12.
- Gagic V, Bartomeus I, Jonsson T, et al. (2015) Functional identity and diversity of animals predict ecosystem functioning better than species-based indices. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Biology 282.

- Gauthier S, Bernier P, Kuuluvainen T Shvidenko AZ, Schepaschenko DG (2015) Boreal forest health and global change. Science 349(6250), 819–822.
- Government of Canada (2018, March 1) Station Results 1981-2010 Climate Normals and Averages (Fort Simpson, Hay River, Yellowknife). http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals.
- Government of the Northwest Territories Center for Geomatics (2017) Forest Management Fire History GIS layer (vector layer). Yellowknife, NWT.
- Grissom P, Alexander ME, Cella B, Cole F, Kurth JT, Malotte NP, Martell DL, Mawdsley W, Roessler J, Quillin R, Ward PC (2000) Effects of Climate Change on Management and Policy: Mitigation Options in the North American Boreal Forest. In 'Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest'. (Eds Kasischke ES, Stocks BJ) Springer, New York, NY. pp 85-101.
- Grondin P, Gauthier S (2014) A new approach to ecological land classification for the Canadian boreal forest that integrates disturbances. Landscape Ecology 29:1–16. doi 10.1007/s10980-013-9961-2
- Haney A, Apfelbaum S, Burris JM (2008) Thirty Years of Post-fire Succession in a Southern Boreal Forest Bird Community. American Midland Naturalist 159,421–433. doi: 10.1674/0003-0031
- Héon J, Arseneault D, Parisien M (2014) Resistance of the boreal forest to high burn rates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 111 (38), 13888-13893; DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1409316111
- Hobson K, Schieck J (1999) Changes in bird communities in boreal mixedwood forest: Harvest and wildfire effects over 30 years. Ecological Applications 9, 849–863.
- Hogg E, Wein RW (2005) Impacts of drought on forest growth and regeneration following fire in southwestern Yukon, Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35, 2141–2150.
- Hokanson KJ, Lukenbach MC, Devito KJ, Kettridge N, Petrone RM, Waddington JM (2015) Groundwater connectivity controls peat burn severity in the boreal plains. Ecohydrology 9, 574–584. doi: 10.1002/eco.1657.
- Holling CS Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 4,1–23.
- Hoover DL, Knapp AK, Smith MD (2014) Resistance and resilience of a grassland ecosystem to climate extremes. Ecological Society of America 95, 2646–2656.

- Hutto RL (1995) Composition of Bird Communities Composition Following Stand-Replacement Fires in Northern Rocky Mountain (U.S.A) Conifer Forests. Conservation Biology 9,1041– 1058.
- Hutto RL, Patterson DA (2016) Positive effects of fire on birds may appear only under narrow combinations of fire severity and time-since-fire. International Journal of Wildland Fire 25, 1074–1085.
- Imbeau L, Savard JL, Gagnon R (1999) Comparing bird assemblages in successional black spruce stands originating from fire and logging. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77, 1850-1860.
- Jacquet K, Prodon R (2009) Measuring the postfire resilience of a bird vegetation system: a 28year study in a Mediterranean oak woodland. Oecologia (2009) 161:801–811. doi: 10.1007/s00442-009-1422-x
- Johnson EA, Miyanishi K, Bridge SRJ (2001) Wildfire Regime in the Boreal Forest and the Idea of Suppression and Fuel Buildup. Conserv Biol 15:1554–1557.
- Johnstone JF, Kasischke ES (2005) Stand-level effects of soil burn severity on postfire regeneration in a recently burned black spruce. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35, 2151-2163.
- Kardynal KJ, Bartzen BA, Latour PB (2015) Avian Communities of the Northern Mackenzie Mountains, Northwest Territories, Canada. Arctic 68:331–340.
- Kasischke ES, Turetsky MR, Ottmar RD, French NHF, Hoy EE, Kane ES (2008) Evaluation of the composite burn index for assessing fire severity in Alaskan black spruce forests. International Journal of Wildland Fire 17, 515-526.
- Keeley JE (2009) Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: a brief review and suggested usage. International Journal of Wildland Fire 18, 116–126.
- Kelly LT, Bennett AF, Clarke MF, Mccarthy MA (2014) Optimal fire histories for biodiversity conservation. Conserv Biol 29, 473–481. doi: 10.1111/cobi.12384
- Kettridge N, Turetsky MR, Sherwood JH, et al. (2015) Peatland vulnerability to post-fire regime. Scientific Reports 5, 8063.
- Key CH, Benson NC (2006) Landscape assessment: Sampling and analysis methods. USDA Forest Service General Technical Repot. RMRS-GTR-164-CD. 55 pp.

- Kirk DA, Diamond T, Hobson KA, Smith AR (2011) Breeding bird communities of the western and northern Canadian boreal forest: Relationship to forest type. Canadian Journal of Zoology 74,1749-1770. doi: 10.1139/z96-193
- Kochtubajda B, Flannigan MD, Gyakum JR, Stewart RE, Logan KA, Nguyen TV (2006) Lightning and fires in the Northwest Territories and responses to future climate change. Arctic 59, 211–221.
- Koivula MJ, Schmiegelow FK (2007) Boreal woodpecker assemblages in recently burned forested landscapes in Alberta, Canada: Effects of post-fire harvesting and burn severity. Forest Ecology and Management 242, 606–618. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.01.075
- Lake P (2013) Resistance, Resilience and Restoration. Ecological Management and Restoration. 14: 20-24. doi: 10.1111/emr.12016
- Laliberté E, Legendre P, Shipley B (2014) FD: measuring functional diversity from multiple traits, and other tools for functional ecology. R package version 1.0-12.
- Lamanna JA, Martin TE (2017) Logging impacts on avian species richness and composition differ across latitudes and foraging and breeding habitat preferences. Biological Reviews 92, 1657-1674. doi:10.1111/brv.12300
- Lankau HE, Macphail A, Knaggs M, Bayne E (2015) Acoustic Recording Analysis Protocol. Bioacoustic Unit, University of Alberta and Alberta Biodiversity Monitoring Institute. Edmonton, Alberta.
- Latif QS, Sanderlin JS, Saab VA, Block WM, Dudley JG (2016) Avian relationships with wildfire at two dry forest locations with different historical fire regimes. Ecosphere 7(5), e01346.
- Lenth RV (2016) Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. Journal of Statistical Software, 69(1), 1-33. doi:10.18637/jss.v069.i01
- Leupin EE, Dickinson TE, Martin K (2004) Resistance of forest songbirds to habitat perforation in a high-elevation conifer forest. Can Journal of Forest Restoration 34, 1919–1928. doi: 10.1139/X04-057
- Lowe J, Pothier D, Rompré G, Savard JPL (2012) Long-term changes in bird community in the unmanaged post-fire eastern Quebec boreal forest. Journal of Ornithology 153, 1113–1125.
- Macdonald SE (2007) Effects of partial post-fire salvage harvesting on vegetation communities in the boreal mixedwood forest region of northeastern Alberta, Canada. Forest of Ecological Management. 239, 21–31. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.11.006

- Madoui A, Leduc A, Gauthier S, Bergeron Y (2010) Spatial pattern analyses of post-fire residual stands in the black spruce boreal forest of western Quebec. International Journal of Wildland Fire 19, 1110-1126.
- Mason NWH, Mouillot D, Graham NAJ, Bellwood DR (2013) A functional approach reveals community responses to disturbances. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 28, 167–177.
- McCann KS (2000) The diversity-stability debate. Nature 405, 228-233.
- Millar C, NL S, Stephens S (2007) Climate change and forests of the future: managing in the face of uncertainty. Ecological Society of America 17, 2145–2151.
- Miquelajauregui Y, Cumming SG, Gauthier S (2016) Modelling Variable Fire Severity in Boreal Forests: Effects of Fire Intensity and Stand Structure. PLoS One 11(2): e0150073. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0150073
- Morissette JL, Cobb TP, Brigham RM, James PC (2002) The response of boreal forest songbird communities to fire and post-fire harvesting. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32, 2169–2183
- Murray B, Holland JD, Summerville K, Dunning JB, Saunders MR, Jenkins MA (2017) Functional diversity response to hardwood forest management varies across taxa and spatial scales. Ecological Applications 27:1064–1081. doi: 10.1002/eap.1532
- Nappi A, Drapeau P, Savard JPL (2004) Salvage logging after wildfire in the boreal forest: Is it becoming a hot issue for wildlife? The Forestry Chronicle 80(1), 67–74.
- National Wetlands Working Group (1997) The Canadian wetland classification system. Waterloo, Ontario. ISBN: 0-662-25857-6.
- Newbold T, Butchart SHM, Sekercioglu CH, Purves DW (2012) Mapping Functional Traits : Comparing Abundance and Presence-Absence Estimates at Large Spatial Scales. PLoS One 7,1–11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044019
- Northwest Territories Department of Environment and Natural Resources (ENR) (2015) 2014 NWT Fire Season: Review Report; Government of the Northwest Territories: Yellowknife, NT, Canada.
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos P, Stevens MHH, Szoecs E, Wagner H (2016). Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.4-1.
- Parisien M, Parks SA, Krawchuk MA, Flannigan MD, Bowman LM, Moritz MA (2011) Scaledependent controls on the area burned in the boreal forest of Canada, 1980–2005. Ecological Applications 21, 789-805. doi:10.1890/10-0326.1

- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D and R Core Team (2016) Nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-128.
- Potapov P, Yaroshenko A, Turubanova S, Dubinin S, Laestadius L, Thies C, Aksenov D, Egorov A, Yesipova Y, Glushkov I, Karpachevskiy M, Kostikova A, Manisha A, Tsybikova E, Zhuravleva I (2008) Mapping the world's intact forest landscapes by remote sensing. Ecology and Society 13(2), 51.
- Price DT, Alfaro RI, Brown KJ, Flannigan MD, Fleming RA, Hogg EH, Girardin MP, Lakusta T, Johnston M, McKenney DW, Pedlar JH, Stratton T, Sturrock RN, Thompson ID, Trofymow JA, Venier LA (2013) Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest ecosystems Environmental Reviews 21, 322-365.
- R Core Team (2016) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rose ET, Simons TR, Klein R, McKerrow AJ (2016) Normalized burn ratios link fire severity with patterns of avian occurrence. Landscape Ecology 31, 1537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-015-0334-x
- Rosenberg KV, Kennedy JA, Dettmers R, Ford RP, Reynolds D, Alexander JD, Beardmore CJ, Blancher PJ, Bogart RE, Butcher GS, Camfield AF, Couturier A, Demarest DW, Easton WE, Giocomo JJ, Keller RH, Mini AE, Panjabi AO, Pashley DN, Rich TD, Ruth JM, Stabins H, Stanton J, Will T (2016) Partners in Flight Landbird Conservation Plan: 2016 Revision for Canada and Continental United States. Partners in Flight Science Committee. 119 pp.
- Rowe JS, Scotter GW (1973) Fire in the Boreal. Quaternary Research. 3, 444-464.
- Schieck J, Hobson K (2000) Bird communities associated with live residual tree patches within cut blocks and burned habitat in mixedwood boreal forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30, 1281–1295.
- Schieck J, Song SJ (2006) Changes in bird communities throughout succession following fire and harvest in boreal forests of western North America: literature review and meta-analyses. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36:1299–1318. doi: 10.1139/x06-017
- Schleuter DS, Aufresne MD, Assol FM (2010) A user's guide to functional diversity indices. Ecological monographs, Ecological Society of America, 2010 80(3), 469 - 484.
- Schmiegelow FK, Machtans CS, Hannnon SJ (1997) Are boreal birds resilient to forest fragmentation? An experimental study of short-term community responses. Ecology 78, 1914–1932.

- Schmiegelow FK, Villard M (2009) Conservation of Boreal Birds and the Case for Resilience: Does it Pass the Test? Avian Conservation and Ecology 4(1), 4.
- Schneider RR (2013) Alberta's Natural Subregions Under a Changing Climate: Past, Present and Future. Prepared for the Biodiversity Management and Climate Change Adaptation Project. Edmonton, Alberta.
- Schulte L, Niemi G (1998) Bird Communities of Early-Successional Burned and Logged Forest. The Journal of Wildlife Management 62:1418–1429.
- Shonfield J, Bayne EM (2017) Autonomous recording units in avian ecological research: current use and future applications. Avian Conservation and Ecology 12(1), 14.
- Sólymos P, Matsuoka SM, Bayne EM, Subhash RL, Fontaine P, Cumming SG, Stralberg D, Schmiegelow FKA, Song SJ (2013) Calibrating indices of avian density from nonstandardized survey data: making the most of a messy situation. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 4,1047–1058. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.12106
- Stralberg D, Wang X, Parisien M-A, Robinne F-N, Sólymos P, Mahon CL, Nielsen SE, Bayne EM (2018) Wildfire-mediated vegetation change in boreal forests of Alberta, Canada. Ecosphere 9(3), e02156.
- Stuart-Smith K, Adams I, Larsen K (2002) Songbird communities in a pyrogenic habitat mosaic. International Journal of Wildland Fire 11, 75–84.
- Swanson ME, Franklin JF, Beschta RL, Charles MC, DellaSala DA, Hutto RL, Lindenmayer DB, Swanson FJ (2011) The forgotten stage of forest succession: Early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9(2), 117–125.
- Tefler (1993) Wildfire and the historical habitats of the boreal forest avifauna: Birds in the boreal forest, Proceedings of a Workshop, 10–12 Mar. 1992, Prince Albert, Sask. Edited by D.H. Kuhnke. Northern Forestry Centre, Forestry Canada, Northwest Region, Edmonton, Alta. 27-38.
- The Forestry Corp. for Environment and Natural Resources, Forest Management Division (2010) Mackenzie River Lowland Forest Resource Assessment. Hay River, NT.
- Thompson I, Mackey B, McNulty S, Mosseler A (2009) Forest Resilience, Biodiversity, and Climate Change. A synthesis of the biodiversity/resilience/stability relationship in forest ecosystems. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal. Technical Series no. 43, 67 pp.
- Toms, JD, Schmiegelow F, Hannon SJ, Villard M (2006) Are Point Counts of Boreal Songbirds Reliable Proxies for More Intensive Abundance Estimators? Auk 123:438–454.

- Turetsky MR, Amiro BD, Bosch E, Bhatti JS (2004) Historical burn area in western Canadian peatlands and its relationship to fire weather indices. 18:1–9
- Tymstra C, Flannigan MD, Armitage OB, Logan K (2007) Impact of climate change on area burned in Alberta's boreal forest. International Journal of Wildland Fire 16:153–160. doi: 10.1071/WF06084
- Vanderhoff N, Pyle P, Patten MA, Sallabanks R, James FC (2016) American Robin (*Turdus migratorius*), version 2.0. In the Birds of North America (P. G. Rodewald, editor). Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Van Wilgenburg SL, Hobson KA (2008) Forest Ecology and Management Landscape-scale disturbance and boreal forest birds: Can large single-pass harvest approximate fires? Forest Ecology and Management. 256(1–2), 136-146. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2008.04.017
- Virkkala R, Lehikoinen A (2017) Birds on the move in the face of climate change : High species turnover in northern Europe. Ecology and Evolution 7, 8201–8209. doi: 10.1002/ece3.3328
- Vollstädt M, Ferger SW, Andreas H, Vollstädt MGR (2017) Direct and indirect effects of climate, human disturbance and plant traits on avian functional diversity. Global Ecology and Biogeography 1-10. doi: 10.1111/geb.12606
- Walker B, Salt D (2006) Resilience thinking: Sustaining ecosystems and people in a changing world. Island Press. 192 pp.
- Weber MG, Flannigan MD (1997) Canadian boreal forest ecosystem structure and function in a changing climate: impact on fire regimes. Environmental Reviews 5, 145–166.
- Weber MG, Stocks BJ (1998) Forest fires and sustainability in the boreal forests of Canada. Ambio 27, 545–550.
- Wells JV, Blancher P (2011) Global Role for Sustaining Bird Populations. In 'Boreal Birds of North America: A Hemispheric View of Their Conservation Links and Significance'. (Eds JV Wells) University of California Press. pp 7-22.
- Whitaker DM, Taylor PD, Warkentin IG (2008) Survival of adult songbirds in boreal forest landscapes fragmented by clearcuts and natural openings. Avian Conservation and Ecology 3(1), 5.
- Whitman E (2015) Extended assessment differenced Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) maps for large 2014 wildfires in the Northwest Territories, derived from Landsat 8 OLI and Landsat 5 TM imagery [Raster geotiff]. Edmonton, AB: Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service & University of Alberta.

- Whitman E, Parisien M-A, Thompson DK, Hall RJ, Skakun RS, Flannigan MD (2018) Variability and drivers of burn severity in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest. Ecosphere 9(2): e02128. doi:10.1002/ecs2.2128
- Wilkerson RL, Tingley MW, Ruiz-gutie V, Howell CA, Siegel RB (2016) Pyrodiversity promotes avian diversity over the decade following forest fire. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Biology 283.
- Woodward AFI, Diament AD (1991) Functional Approaches to Predicting the Ecological Effects of Global Change. Published by: British Ecological Society Functional approaches to predicting the ecological effects of global change. 5:202–212.
- Zeileis A, Hothorn T (2002). Diagnostic Checking in Regression Relationships. R News 2(3), 7-10.
- Zoltai SC, Morrissey LA, Livingston GP, de Groot WJ (1998) Effects of fires on carbon cycling in North American boreal peatlands. Environmental Reviews. 6, 13–24.
Appendices

Appendix 1. Generalized linear mixed model results testing for effect of burn severity and forest type on species richness with unstandardized beta coefficients (β), standard error (SE), and p values (*p*). The reference state in the model was peatland control.

Fixed Effect	β	SE	р
Intercept	2.06	0.07	< 0.001
Upland	-0.23	0.04	< 0.001
Low severity	-0.04	0.09	0.632
Moderate severity	-0.08	0.09	0.111
High severity	-0.19	0.09	0.025

Appendix 2. Generalized linear mixed model results testing for effect of burn severity and forest type on functional diversity with unstandardized beta coefficients (β), standard error (SE), and p values (*p*). The reference state for this model was upland control.

Fixed Effect	β	S.E.	р
Intercept	0.60	0.02	< 0.001
Peatland	0.01	0.02	0.523
Low severity	-0.09	0.02	0.001
Moderate severity	-0.14	0.02	< 0.001
High severity	-0.17	0.01	< 0.001



Appendix 3. Number of sampling stations for each burn severity and habitat categories.

Appendix 4. Results of generalized linear mixed model testing for effects of time since fire and forest type on species richness. Reference category is upland control.

Independent variables	β	S.E.	р
intercept	1.82	.04	< 0.001
Peatland	0.17	0.03	< 0.001
1 year	-0.17	0.05	0.002
2 years	0.10	0.05	0.057
3-10 years	0.1	0.08	0.02
11-30 years	0.29	0.061	< 0.001
31-50 years	0.17	0.03	< 0.001

Appendix 5. Results of linear mixed model testing for effects of time since fire, habitat type, and time since fire \times habitat type on functional diversity. Reference categories are upland control and upland \times control interaction.

Independent variables	β	S.E.	р
Intercept	0.63	0.03	< 0.001
Peatland	-0.02	0.03	0.558
1 year	-0.07	0.03	0.017
2 years	-0.08	0.033	0.194
3-10 years	0.003	0.052	0.942
11-30 years	0.05	0.05	0.221
31-50 years	-0.002	0.03	0.959
1 year × Peatland	-0.02	0.04	0.607
2 years × Peatland	0.03	0.04	0.484
3-10 years × Peatland	0.02	0.060	0.780
11-30 years × Peatland	-0.002	0.054	0.966
31-50 years post-fire × Peatland	-0.06	0.05	0.222



Appendix 6. Histogram of number of sampling stations in each combination of time since fire and habitat type.

Appendix 7. Species detected at least three times in the study area, life history traits (from the Avian Life History Information Database Wildspace support system (http://www.on.ec.gc.ca/wildlife/wildspace/project.cfm)), and a rank based on the most common boreal species from Blancher (2003).

AOU Species Code	Common Name	Scientific Name	Migration	Feeding	Substrate Breed	Foraging type	Nesting Substrate	Nesting Habitat	Most common boreal songbird species?
ALFL	Alder Flycatcher	Empidonax alnorum	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Air	Sallier	Shrub	Treed/shrubby swamp	No
AMRE	American Redstart	Setophaga ruticilla	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Deciduous tree	Deciduous woodlands	No
AMRO	American Robin	Turdus migratorius	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Forager	Tree - non- specific	Urban	Yes
ATSP	American Tree Sparrow	Spizella arborea	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Bogs	Yes
BBWO	Black- backed Woodpecker	Picoides arcticus	Resident	Insectivore	Bark	Scaler	Snag	Coniferous woodlands	N/A
BHVI	Blue-headed Vireo	Vireo solitarius	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Coniferous tree	Mixed woodlands	No
BLPW	Blackpoll Warbler	Dendroica striata	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Upper canopy	Gleaner	Coniferous tree	Coniferous woodlands	Yes
BOCH	Boreal Chickadee	Poecile hudsonicus	Resident	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Snag	Coniferous woodlands	No
BRBL	Brewer's Blackbird	Euphagus cyanocephalus	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Agricultural	No
CCSP	Clay-colored Sparrow	Spizella pallida	Neotropical migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Shrub	Early successional	No
CHSP	Chipping Sparrow	Spizella passerina	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Coniferous tree	Open woodlands	Yes
CONI	Common Nighthawk	Chordeiles minor	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Air	Screener	Ground	Woodlands	N/A
CORA	Common Raven	Corvus corax	Resident	Omnivore	Ground	Scavenger	Cliff	Woodlands	No

CORE	Common Redpoll	Carduelis flammea	Nomadic	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Shrub	Tundra	No
COYE	Common Yellowthroat	Geothlypis trichas	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Ground	Marsh	No
DEJU	Dark-eyed Junco	Junco hyemalis	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Coniferous woodlands	Yes
FOSP	Fox Sparrow	Passerella iliaca	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Woodlands	Yes
GCTH	Gray- cheeked Thrush	Catharus minimus	Neotropical migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Shrub	Coniferous woodlands	Yes
GRAJ	Gray Jay	Perisoreus canadensis	Resident	Omnivore	Upper canopy	Forager	Coniferous tree	Coniferous woodlands	No
HETH	Hermit Thrush	Catharus guttatus	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Ground	Gleaner	Ground	Coniferous woodlands	No
LCSP	Le Conte's Sparrow	Ammodramus leconteii	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Meadows	No
LEFL	Least Flycatcher	Empidonax minimus	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Air	Sallier	Deciduous tree	Deciduous woodlands	Yes
LISP	Lincoln's Sparrow	Melospiza lincolnii	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Bogs	Yes
MAWA	Magnolia Warbler	Dendroica magnolia	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Coniferous tree	Mixed woodlands	Yes
MOBL	Mountain Bluebird	Sialia currucoides	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Ground	Gleaner	Snag	Open woodlands	No
NOFL	Northern Flicker	Colaptes auratus	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Ground	Gleaner	Snag	Mixed woodlands	No
NOWA	Northern Waterthrush	Seiurus noveboracensis	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Freshwater	Gleaner	Ground	Treed/shrubby swamp	Yes

OCWA	Orange- crowned Warbler	Vermivora celata	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Ground	Open woodlands	No
OSFL	Olive-sided Flycatcher	Contopus cooperi	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Air	Sallier	Coniferous tree	Bogs	No
OVEN	Ovenbird	Seiurus aurocapillus	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Ground	Gleaner	Ground	Deciduous woodlands	Yes
PAWA	Palm Warbler	Dendroica palmarum	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Ground	Gleaner	Ground	Bogs	Yes
PIWO	Pileated Woodpecker	Dryocopus pileatus	Resident	Insectivore	Bark	Excavator	Snag	Mixed woodlands	N/A
RCKI	Ruby- crowned Kinglet	Regulus calendula	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Upper canopy	Gleaner	Coniferous tree	Coniferous woodlands	Yes
REVI	Red-eyed Vireo	Vireo olivaceus	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Upper canopy	Gleaner	Deciduous tree	Deciduous woodlands	Yes
RUGR	Ruffed Grouse	Bonasa umbellus	Resident	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Mixed woodlands	N/A
RWBL	Red-winged Blackbird	Agelaius phoeniceus	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Grass	Marsh	No
SAVS	Savannah Sparrow	Passerculus sandwichensis	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Agricultural	Yes
SWSP	Swamp Sparrow	Melospiza georgiana	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Grass	Marsh	Yes
SWTH	Swainson's Thrush	Catharus ustulatus	Neotropical migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Coniferous tree	Mixed woodlands	Yes
TEWA	Tennessee Warbler	Vermivora peregrina	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Upper canopy	Gleaner	Ground	Bogs	Yes
WAVI	Warbling Vireo	Vireo gilvus	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Upper canopy	Gleaner	Deciduous tree	Open woodlands	No
WCSP	White- crowned Sparrow	Zonotrichia leucophrys	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Bogs	Yes

WETA	Western Tanager	Piranga ludoviciana	Neotropical migrant	Omnivore	Upper canopy	Forager	Coniferous tree	Coniferous woodlands	No
WEWP	Western Wood- Pewee	Contopus sordidulus	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Air	Sallier	Coniferous tree	Open woodlands	No
WIWA	Wilson's Warbler	Wilsonia pusilla	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Ground	Treed/shrubby swamp	No
WTSP	White- throated Sparrow	Zonotrichia albicollis	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Ground	Forager	Ground	Early successional	Yes
YBFL	Yellow- bellied Flycatcher	Empidonax flaviventris	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Air	Sallier	Ground	Bogs	No
YBSA	Yellow- bellied Sapsucker	Sphyrapicus varius	Short distance migrant	Omnivore	Bark	Excavator	Deciduous tree	Mixed woodlands	N/A
YEWA	Yellow Warbler	Dendroica petechia	Neotropical migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Shrub	Early successional	Yes
YRWA	Yellow- rumped Warbler	Dendroica coronata	Short distance migrant	Insectivore	Lower canopy / shrub	Gleaner	Coniferous tree	Coniferous woodlands	Yes

Author(s)	Study Area	Severity or time since fire (TSF)	Analyses	Findings	
Hobson and Schieck (1999)	Alberta	TSF compared to logging	Indicator species analysis,1 year post-fire dominated by: open shrub, grassland, and riparian spe woodpeckerscommunity composition1		
Imbeau et al. (1999)	Quebec	TSF (gauged by tree heights)	Richness, abundance, guilds	Species richness did not change throughout time Recent burns dominated by: open-land species, cavity nesting species Mid-successional stage: ground and shrub nesting species	
VanWilgenburg and Hobson (2008)	Alberta Saskatchewan	TSF (1–5 years) compared to logging	Abundance, Community composition	1–5 years dominated by: cavity nesting species	
Morissette et al. (2002)	Saskatchewan	Salvage vs. salvage logging 3 yrs post-fire	Community composition, Guilds	Burned sites dominated by: OSFI, WEWP, AMRO, DEJU	
Haney et al. (2008)	Minnesota	TSF	Density	Immediately post-fire: WTSP, DEJU, YRWA, BBWA 7 years post-fire dominated by: ground-brush foragers 19 years post-fire dominated by: WTSP, MAWA REVI, NAWA, SWTH Tree-foliage searchers were the most important guild throughout succession, including unburned forest Species density was greater 30 years post-fire than unburned forests	
Schieck Hobson (2000)	Alberta	TSF (1 – 60 years) compared to logging	Species richness, Similarity analysis	Immediately post-fire: Species that nest in large snags Shrub nesters and foragers Old-forest species present throughout succession Generalists species most common 60 years post-disturbance	
Hannon and Drapeau (2005)	Alberta, Saskatchewan, Quebec	TSF (1–25 years) compared to logging	Meta-analysis Community composition	Immediately post-fire dominated by: beetle-foragers, cavity nesting species 25 years post-fire dominated by: shrub-breeding species	
Azeria et al. (2011)	Quebec	Burn Severity vs. logging	Functional diversity	Low burn severity dominated by: canopy nesters, bark and foliage insectivores High burn severity dominated by: cavity nesting and ground foraging species	
Schieck and Song (2006)	Alberta, Saskatchewan, British Columbia	TSF compared to logging	Meta-analysis	0–10 years post-fire dominated by: species that live in parkland habitat and generalists. Old forest species were present where live trees persisted. 11–30 years post-fire dominated by: shrubby and young forest species	

Appendix 8. Summary of similar North American boreal forest studies.

	31–75 years dominated by: generalist species dominated, old forest birds were present where live residual trees were present. 76–125 years post-fire dominated by: species richness and presence of old-forest species increased
--	---



Appendix 9. Heatmap of species that were detected at least 5 times in the study area. Each column represents a species, labelled with American Ornithologists' Union (AOU) codes. Each row represents a burn severity category. Colors from blue (never present) to red (most frequently present) represent the relative frequency that each species was detected in each severity category. Species frequency data has been standardized.



Appendix 10. Heatmap of species that were detected at least 5 times in the study area. Each column represents a species, labelled with American Ornithologists' Union (AOU) codes. Each row represents a time since fire category. Colors from blue (never present) to red (most frequently present) represent the relative frequency that each species was detected in each severity category. Species frequency data has been standardized.